67627.0

67627.0

No. 67627-0-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

RECEIVED COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION ONE

v.

AFR 20 2012

DONALD L. CALVIN,

Appellant.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

## BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ELAINE L. WINTERS Attorney for Appellant

10.0

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711



#

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

.

1. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Donald Calvin committed the crime of assault in the third degree.

2. The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Calvin committed the crime of resisting arrest.

3. Mr. Calvin did not receive the effective assistance of counsel because his attorney did not propose a self-defense instruction.

4. The trial court erred by replacing Instruction 5 with a substitute instruction during jury deliberations.

5. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument by disparaging defense counsel and offering his opinion that Mr. Calvin was lying.

 The trial court's finding that Mr. Calvin had the ability to pay the ordered financial obligations is not supported by the record.
Judgment and Sentence Finding of Fact 2.5.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 A defendant may not be convicted of a crime unless the State proves every element of that crime beyond a reasonable doubt.
Donald Calvin was convicted of third degree assault of a law enforcement officer performing his official duties by attempting to

place the officer in fear of imminent bodily injury. A state park ranger testified he was afraid because Mr. Calvin walked towards him during a conversation, raised his hand when the ranger shined a flashlight in his face, and had his fists by his head after the ranger sprayed him in the face with pepper spray. Mr. Calvin testified he did not intend to frighten the park ranger, but was merely trying to hear his remarks, shield his eyes from the flashlight, and protect his face in reaction to the pepper spray. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, must Mr. Calvin's conviction for assault in the third degree be dismissed in the absence of proof beyond a reasonable doubt that (1) the ranger's fear of imminent bodily injury was reasonable and (2) Mr. Calvin intended to place the armed ranger in fear of imminent bodily injury?

٠

2. In order to convict Mr. Calvin of resisting arrest, the State was required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that he intentionally attempted to prevent a peace officer from lawfully arresting him. RCW 9A.76.040(1). The state park ranger did not immediately identify himself as a police officer and never informed Mr. Calvin that he was under arrest. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, must Mr. Calvin's conviction for resisting arrest be dismissed?

3. The accused has the constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel at trial, and counsel is responsible for investigating and pursuing viable defenses. Mr. Calvin was charged with assault in the third degree and resisting arrest, and he testified that he was frightened and confused by the park ranger's use of force upon him and reacted to protect himself. Where Mr. Calvin had the right to act in self-defense if he believed he was in danger of being injured by the officer, was Mr. Calvin's constitutional right to effective counsel violated when defense counsel did not propose a self-defense instruction?

.

4. A trial court may provide the jury with substitute instructions during deliberations if the original instruction is not a correct statement of the law. Instruction 5 correctly defined assault as charged in Mr. Calvin's case. When the jury asked the court to define the phrase "unlawful force," the trial court told the jury Instruction 5 was incorrect and replaced it with a substitute instruction defining assault.

a. Where the original instruction was proposed by the State and the replacement instruction relieved the State of its burden of proving that Mr. Calvin did not act with lawful force, did

the substitution of the instruction defining assault violate the law of the case doctrine?

.

b. Where the trial court told the jury that Instruction 5 was incorrect in response to a jury question and then provided a substitute instruction, did the trial court comment on the evidence in violation of article IV, section 16 of the Washington Constitution?

c. Where the original instruction was proposed by the State, the State did not propose the replacement instruction, and the replacement instruction relieved the State of its burden of proving that Mr. Calvin did not act with lawful force, did the substitution of the instruction defining assault violate the appearance of fairness doctrine?

5. The prosecutor is a representative of the State, and prosecutorial misconduct may deny the defendant a fair trial. Defense counsel plays an important role in a criminal trial, and it is misconduct for the prosecutor to argue in a manner that denigrates defense counsel or his role. It is also misconduct for the prosecutor to express a personal opinion as to the veracity of any of the witnesses, including the defendant.

a. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by arguing that defense counsel was lying, his argument was untrustworthy, he

was unfairly calling the State's witness a liar, and unfairly blaming the victim? Where the case hinged on the jury's evaluation of the credibility of the State's key witness and Mr. Calvin, is there a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury verdict?

b. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by telling the jury that Mr. Calvin was "trying to pull the wool" over their eyes? Where the case hinged on the jury's evaluation of the credibility of the State's key witness and Mr. Calvin, is there a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury verdict?

6. The trial court did not inquire as to Mr. Calvin's financial condition or his present or future ability to pay his legal financial obligations but entered a written finding that Mr. Calvin had the present or future ability to pay them. Must the trial court's factual finding be stricken in the absence of any supporting evidence in the record?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Donald Calvin was living in an old mobile home near Lynden that lacked running water. RP 112.<sup>1</sup> On the evening of April 10, he drove to Larrabee State Park to use the shower, arriving between

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RP refers to the verbatim report of the jury trial on July 25-26, 2011, that is found in a single volume. The pretrial motions and jury selection are in separate volumes and are not referenced here. Other volumes of the verbatim report of proceedings are referred to by date.

8:45 and 9:15 PM. RP 16, 113. The park closes 30 minutes after sunset, but overnight campers may enter until 10 PM. RP 15-16, 19-20. The gate was closed when Mr. Calvin arrived, and he parked his car in order to enter on foot. RP 114.

State Park Ranger Alexander Moularas stopped his car when he saw Mr. Calvin and called out to him, informing him that the park was closed. RP 17-19, 35, 114. Mr. Calvin was unable to hear Ranger Moularas due to hearing loss, so he walked closer to the ranger's vehicle and explained that he just wanted to use the shower. RP 115. The ranger told Mr. Calvin he had to leave unless he paid \$14 to camp. RP 19-20, 36, 115.

Mr. Calvin then walked towards his car, but realized the park ranger was shining a flashlight on him and his vehicle. RP 116-17. Ranger Moularas told Mr. Calvin to get out of his car, asked if there was anything in it that the ranger needed to know about, and shined his flashlight in Mr. Calvin's face. RP 118. Mr. Calvin raised his hand to shield his eyes, as he suffers from migraine headaches, and he told the ranger to get the light out of his eyes. RP 118.

Ranger Moularas instantly "maced" Mr. Calvin with pepper spray, which was both painful and blinding. RP 118. The ranger then struck Mr. Calvin several times with a baton. RP 119. Mr.

Calvin did not understand why Ranger Moularas was attacking him; he was afraid and tried to get away. RP 120. The park ranger then wrestled Mr. Calvin to the ground and forced handcuffs on him. RP 120. Mr. Calvin screamed in pain and confusion, begging for mercy. RP 120-21. When Ranger Moularas's supervisor, Amber Forrest arrived ten minutes later, Mr. Calvin was still afraid and in pain. RP 66, 68, 69, 71. She confirmed that pepper spray is painful and frightening. RP 70, 71-72.

As a result of the incident, the Whatcom County Prosecutor charged Mr. Calvin with assault in the third degree by assaulting a law enforcement officer performing his official duties, RCW 9A.36.031(1)(g), and resisting arrest, RCW 9A.76.040. CP 93-94. At a jury trial before the Honorable Steven J. Mura, Ranger Moularas admitted that Mr. Calvin never hit him, but testified that he utilized the pepper spray and struck Mr. Calvin with his baton because he believed Mr. Calvin was about to injure him. RP 26, 30.

Ranger Moularas testified that he had been a park ranger for about two years and had recently been assigned to Larrabee State Park. RP 10-11. He had been trained to use various kinds of force, from lethal force to "strikes" and kicks. RP 12-13. He was armed with a firearm, a collapsible baton made of steel and plastic,

oleoresin capsicum (OC or pepper spray), and a flashlight. RP 13-14, 48-49.

Ranger Moularas testified that after he got out of his car, Mr. Calvin asked him his name and said "Well, at least you know you're your damn name," when the ranger provided it. RP 21. Concerned that Mr. Calvin might be under the influence of alcohol or "unbalanced," he pointed his flashlight at Mr. Calvin's body and asked him if he had had anything to drink.<sup>2</sup> RP 22-23. Mr. Calvin yelled no, asked if the showers were locked, put his hand up, and told the ranger to "get that f-ing thing out of my face." RP 23, 45. The two were about five feet apart. RP 23. Ranger Moularas said he immediately sprayed Mr. Calvin two times with oleoresin capsicum (pepper spray) because Mr. Calvin's hand was moving forward and Mr. Calvin was moving in his direction. RP 13, 24.

According to Ranger Moularas, Mr. Calvin continued to move forward as the ranger backed to Chuckanut Drive. RP 24. Ranger Moularas commanded Mr. Calvin to get on the ground and get back. RP 25. The ranger believed Mr. Calvin's fists were near Mr. Calvin's face, so he struck Mr. Calvin six times with his baton. RP 25. Mr. Calvin responded by walking away on Chuckanut Drive, so Ranger

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Calvin had not been drinking. RP 43-33, 62.

Moularas ordered him to get on the ground, for the first time using the word "police." RP 53-54. Ranger Moularas then grabbed Mr. Calvin's arm, forced him to the ground, and placed him in handcuffs. RP 26. He added that Mr. Calvin's arms were tensed and it was difficult to place his wrists in the handcuffs. RP 26-27.

Medics, Ranger Moularas's supervisor, and Whatcom County Sherriff's deputies responded to Ranger Moularas's call for help. RP 27-28, 76-77. A deputy sheriff took Mr. Calvin into custody after he was treated by the medics. RP 77, 79-80. Mr. Calvin told the deputy that he had not tried to assault anyone. RP 81.

Mr. Calvin was convicted as charged, and he appeals to this Court. CP 5-13, 49.

#### D. ARGUMENT

#### 1. THE STATE DID NOT PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT MR. CALVIN ASSAULTED THE PARK RANGER

a. <u>The State was required to prove every element of third</u> <u>degree assault beyond a reasonable doubt</u>. The due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions require the government prove every element of a crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Apprendi v.</u> <u>New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 476-77, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000); U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22. The inquiry on appellate review is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307, 334, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); <u>State v. Smith</u>, 155 Wn.2d 496, 501, 120 P.3d 559 (2005).

Mr. Calvin was charged with assault in the third degree under the prong that he assaulted a law enforcement officer performing his official duties. CP 93. The statute reads:

A person is guilty of assault in the third degree if he or she, under circumstances not amounting to assault in the first or second degree: . . .

(g) Assaults a law enforcement officer or other employee of a law enforcement agency who was performing his or her official duties at the time of the assault.

RCW 9A.36.031(1)(g).

Assault is not defined in the criminal code. <u>State v. Elmi</u>, 166 Wn.2d 209, 215, 207 P.3d 439 (2009). Under its common law definition assault may be committed in three different ways: (1) a unwanted touching (actual battery), (2) an attempt with unlawful force to inflict bodily injury on another that is not accomplished (attempted battery), or (3) putting another person in fear of harm which creates a reasonable apprehension of harm. <u>Id</u>. at 215-16. An assault requires an intentional act. In order to commit assault, a person must have either the intent to cause bodily harm or to create an apprehension of bodily harm. <u>State v. Byrd</u>, 125 Wn.2d 707, 713, 887 P.2d 396 (1995).

Here, the State did not prosecute Mr. Calvin for touching or attempting to touch Ranger Moularas (battery or attempted battery). Instead, the State proceeded on the theory that Mr. Calvin attempted to frighten the armed park ranger. RP 139, 166-67; CP 77. The elements of the crime were thus that (1) on April 10, 2010, Mr. Calvin intentionally placed Ranger Moularas in apprehension and fear of bodily injury by his actions, (2) the park ranger's apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury were reasonable, (3) the ranger was a law enforcement officer who was performing his official duties, and (4) the acts occurred in Washington. <u>State v.</u> <u>Brown</u>, 140 Wn.2d 456, 470, 998 P.2d 321 (2000); CP 58-59.

b. <u>The State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr.</u> <u>Calvin intended to place Ranger Moularas in fear of imminent bodily</u> <u>injury or that the ranger's fear of imminent bodily harm was</u> <u>reasonable</u>. Park Ranger Moularas testified that he approached Mr. Calvin because he was standing near the gate to Larrabee State Park after the park was closed to day visitors. RP 16-17. After the ranger informed Mr. Calvin that the park was closed, they discussed whether he could use the park bathroom; the ranger related he would have to pay about \$14 for a camp site. RP 35. During the conversation, Mr. Calvin walked towards the ranger's truck and appeared "aggravated" by the information. RP 20-21, 37. When Mr. Calvin reached the ranger's state truck, Ranger Moularas got out of his vehicle because "of the stare I was receiving from Mr. Calvin and his distance to me." RP 39. The ranger explained he had been taught "you're not suppose [sic] to be approached by subjects." RP 20.

Instead of asking Mr. Calvin to back up, the ranger shined a powerful flashlight at Mr. Calvin, who was about five feet away. RP 21, 23. As the intense light hit his face, Mr. Calvin simultaneously raised one of his arms and asked the ranger to "Get that F-ing light out of my face." RP 22-23, 45. The ranger interpreted these actions as an assault and sprayed Mr. Calvin's face twice with pepper spray. RP 24. When Mr. Calvin continued to move forward with his hands near his face instead of complying with the ranger's order, Ranger Moularas struck Mr. Calvin several times with his steel and plastic baton. RP 25.

i. <u>The State did not prove that Ranger Moularas was</u> <u>placed in reasonable fear of bodily harm</u>. Ranger Moularas testified that he believed he was assaulted by Mr. Calvin, but was unable to articulate a reasonable basis for his fear. The ranger testified he was afraid for his safety because Mr. Calvin (1) used a "strained" or "sarcastic" tone of voice, (2) walked towards him, and (3) raised one arm when the ranger shown his flashlight at him. These claims, even construed in the light most favorable to the State, do not establish the required element of reasonable fear.

First, it is logical and socially appropriate to approach a person with whom you are having a conversation. Ranger Moularas was in a park truck and the conversation occurred outside at night in an area with poor lighting. Moreover, Mr. Calvin testified he had difficulty hearing the ranger. RP 114-15. Thus, advancing to Ranger Moularas's truck was not an aggressive act.

Second, Mr. Calvin put his arm up when the ranger shined a powerful flashlight on his body. Although the ranger stated he aimed the flashlight at Mr. Calvin's chest, not his face, he admitted that the bright light could be disorienting and even momentarily blinding. RP 23, 43. Ranger Moularas never described how Mr. Calvin's arm was raised in order to justify his fear. Instead, the

ranger's fear appeared to be based more upon the diminishing distance between him and Mr. Calvin.

.

Ranger Moularas also testified he remembered Mr. Calvin's "fists being up towards his face" after the ranger had attacked Mr. Calvin with pepper spray. RP 24-25. Ranger Moularas's supervisor, however, testified that being sprayed with pepper spray is both painful and frightening. RP 70, 71-72. She also observed that Mr. Calvin was crying, distraught and complaining of pain over ten minutes after Ranger Moularas sprayed him with the pepper spray. RP 67-69. It was thus not reasonable for the ranger to assume Mr. Calvin intended to injure him when Mr. Calvin put his hands to his face after being sprayed in the face with oleoresin capsicum.

Mr. Calvin also did not verbally threaten Ranger Moularas with bodily harm. The only conversation the park ranger testified to concerned whether Mr. Calvin could use the park shower and how much that would cost. RP 19, 20, 21. Mr. Calvin asked the ranger his name and asked him to get the flashlight out of his face. RP 21, 23. There were no verbal threats or "fighting words." <u>See State v.</u> <u>Kilburn</u>, 151 Wn.2d 36, 43, 84 P.3d 1215 (2004) ("true threat" is statement which, in context, a reasonable listener would perceive as a serious expression of an intent to inflict bodily harm or death);

<u>City of Seattle v. Camby</u>, 104 Wn.2d 49, 50, 54, 701 P.2d 499 (1985) ("fighting words" are words that necessarily inflict injury or incite immediate breach of peace; invitation to "come outside so I can kick your fucking ass" was not "fighting words" in context in which it was spoken). Instead, the park ranger said he was frightened by Mr. Calvin's tone of voice, which he described first as "straining" and then as "hushed sarcastic." RP 20.

In the absence of a true threat to harm the ranger, the use of a strained or sarcastic tone of voice does not create a reasonable fear of assault. Nor did Mr. Calvin's mild use of profanity. In fact, citizens like Mr. Calvin are permitted to protest or criticize law enforcement officers when they are performing their official duties. <u>City of Houston v. Hill</u>, 482 U.S. 451, 461, 107 S.Ct. 2502, 96 L.Ed.2d 393 (1987). "[T]he First Amendment protects a significant amount of verbal criticism and challenge directed at police officers." <u>Id</u>. Mr. Calvin's sarcastic tone and mild use of profanity does not support a reasonable belief that he was going into injure Ranger Moularas.

The Washington Supreme Court addressed a conviction for third degree assault under RCW 9A.36.031(1)(g) where the assault was based upon an act that created reasonable fear of bodily injury rather than an actual battery. <u>Brown</u>, 140 Wn.2d at 463, 468. In

<u>Brown</u> an undercover police officer purchased drugs from the defendant and remained in the area to assist fellow officers in the arrest. Id. at 459-61. The defendant spun around to face the undercover officer, unzipped his jacket, and removed a cigarette lighter that looked like a handgun. When the undercover officer identified himself as a police officer, the defendant pointed the apparent weapon directly at the officer . <u>Id</u>. at 461-62. In contrast with this case, the law enforcement officer's fear that he might be injured when faced with an apparent firearm was reasonable.

Similarly, a defendant who took a fighting stance with raised fists, invited the officer to "come on," and took a step forward put the police officer in reasonable apprehension of imminent bodily harm and was thus guilty of third degree assault. <u>State v. Godsey</u>, 131 Wn.App. 278, 288, 127 P.3d 11, <u>rev</u>. <u>denied</u>, 158 Wn.2d 1022 (2006).

The same is not true in Mr. Calvin's case. His actions and conversation with Ranger Moularas did not demonstrate that he intended to attack the park ranger and cause bodily harm. A reasonable person in Ranger Moularas's position would not believe Mr. Calvin intended to inflict bodily harm.

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