A. ISSUE PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S

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

P.2d 775 (1971). The law ofthe case doctrine simply holds that where 

parties do not object to jury instructions, such instructions become the law 

of the case. State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 102,954 P.2d 900 (1998). 

The law of the case doctrine is inapplicable to when or whether a trial 

court may within its discretion correct or provide additional instructions to 

a deliberating jury. 

Calvin argues nonetheless, relying on State v. Hobbs, 71 Wn.App. 

419,421,859 P.2d 73 (1973) and Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, that as soon 

as the jury is instructed, the law of the case doctrine precludes the court 
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from further instructing or correcting any jury instructions. In Hickman, 

the 'to convict' instruction included an additional element that the acts in 

question occurred in Snohomish County. Id. at 101-102. Based on the law 

of the case doctrine, the appellate court held the state was required to 

prove this added unnecessary element and Hickman was permitted to 

challenge the sufficiency of the evidence based on the additional element 

for the first time on appeal. Id. Hickman is not applicable to this case 

because it did not involve giving supplemental instructions and should not 

be read narrowly as to render CrR 6.5(1)(f) meaningless. 

In Hobbs, the appellate court held trial court abused its discretion 

amending the "to convict" instruction to eliminate an extraneous element -

venue - during jury deliberations. While the Court in Hobbs recognized a 

trial court does have authority to amend jury instructions during 

deliberations, it held, relying primarily on State v. Ransom, 56 Wn.App. 

712, 714, 785 P .2d 469 (1990), that the supplemental instruction served to 

remove an element of venue that the state had undertaken the burden of 

proving by including it in their submitted "to convict" instruction. In 

Ransom, the trial court abused its discretion by giving a supplemental 

instruction that reflected a theory the state had not previously advanced at 

trial. 
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Here, the trial court did not correct or amend the "to convict" 

instruction, did not introduce a new theory but instead corrected the 

instruction to reflect the arguments and theories properly before the jury. 

Supplemental instructions should not go beyond maters that have either 

been or could have been argued to the jury. State v. Hobbs, 71 Wn.App. at 

424-5. In this case, the "to convict" instruction did not have or add an 

element that the state had to prove Calvin assaulted with unlawful force

thus, the "to convict" instruction was correct and did not reference an 

additional element. Moreover, the inclusion of the phrase "unlawful force" 

in the definitional instruction did not add an element to the charged crime. 

Unlawful force would only be an element of the charged crime if perhaps 

accidentally included in the "to convict" instruction and such instruction 

was not corrected or if self-defense was an issue. See, State v. Brooks, 142 

Wn.App. 842, 176 P.3d 549 (2008). The trial court therefore did not 

abuse its discretion by correcting the assault definition instruction in 

response to the jury's question. 

a. Appearance of fairness 

Next, Calvin contends the trial court violated appearance of 

fairness doctrine by responding to the jury's question by giving a 

corrected assault definition for them to use during deliberations. 
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Under the appearance of fairness doctrine, a judicial proceeding is 

valid only if a reasonably prudent, disinterested observer would conclude 

that the parties received a fair, impartial and neutral hearing. State v. 

Bilal, 77 Wn.App. 720, 722, 893 P.2d 674 (1995). "'The law goes farther 

than requiring an impartial judge; it also requires that the judge appear to 

be impartial.'" State v. Madry, 8 Wn.App. 61, 70, 504 P.2d 1156 (1972), 

quoted in State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 618,826 P.2d 172 (1992). 

"Evidence of a judge's actual or potential bias must be shown before an 

appearance of fairness claim will succeed." State v. Chamberlin, 161 

Wn.2d 30, 37, 162 P.3d 389 (2007). 

Calvin appears to argue that by advising the jury they were 

misinstructed and removing a inapplicable phrase from the definitional 

instruction and resubmitting the correct jury instruction, that any 

independent observer would perceive the trial court was not neutral and 

was instead acting with actual or potential bias. Calvin's claim is without 

merit. Particularly where the trial court's actions were in response to a jury 

question, where the trial court discussed the issue with both parties and 

gave the parties an opportunity to re-argue their cases after giving the 

supplemental instruction to the jury. 
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b. Impermissible comment on the evidence 

Lastly, Calvin asserts the trial court's comment and giving of a 

supplemental instruction amounted to an impennissible comment on the 

evidence. 

The Washington Constitution prohibits a judge from commenting 

on the evidence providing, "[j]udges shall not charge juries with respect to 

matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Const. 

Art. IV, §16. A court does not comment on the evidence by simply giving 

its reasons for a ruling. In re Det. Of Pouncy, 144 Wn.App. 609, 622, 184 

P.3d 651 (2008), affd, 168 Wn.2d 382, 229 P.3d 678 (2010). Rather, a 

comment on the evidence occurs only if the court's attitude toward the 

merits of the case is reasonably inferable from the court's statement. State 

v. Cerny, 78 Wn.2d 845,855,480 P.2d 199 (1971), vacated in part on 

other grounds by Cerny v. Washington, 408 U.S. 939, 92 S.Ct. 2873, 33 

L.Ed.2d (1972). 

Contrary to Calvin's arguments, the trial court did not 

impennissibly introduce facts or give any indication of its attitude toward 

the case by responding to the jury question and acknowledging that the 

instruction questioned was incorrect and then giving the jury the corrected 

instruction and further instructing them that the instruction was to be used 

in conjunction with all the remaining instructions given. The trial court 
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was acting within its discretion on matters of law and did not 

impermissibly comment on the evidence. 

5. Alleged prosecutorial misconduct did not 
deprive Calvin of a fair trial. 

Calvin next asserts he was deprived of a fair trial because the 

prosecutor committed misconduct during closing arguments. Br. of App. 

at 42. Specifically, Calvin alleges the prosecutor disparaged Calvin's 

attorney, accused the defense of calling the State's witness a liar and 

expressed his personal opinion regarding Calvin's credibility. Id. 

Where prosecutorial misconduct is claimed, the appellant bears the 

burden of showing both the impropriety of the conduct and its prejudicial 

effect. State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), cert. 

denied, 523 U.S. 1007 (1998). Prejudicial effect is established only if 

there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the jury's 

verdict. State v. Roberts, 142 Wn.2d 471,533, 14 P.3d 713 (2000). 

Where a defendant objects on the basis of prosecutorial misconduct, a 

reviewing court defers to the trial court's ruling on the matter because the 

"trial court is in the best position to most effectively determine if 

prosecutorial misconduct prejudiced a defendant's right to a fair trial." 

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 719, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. den., 

523 U.S. 1008 (1998). 
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Absent an objection, a claim of misconduct is waived unless it is 

so flagrant or ill intentioned that it creates an incurable prejudice. State v. 

Echevarria, 71 Wn. App. 595,597,860 P.2d 420 (1993); State v. Russell, 

125 Wn.2d 24, 82, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129 

(1995). Misconduct does not create an incurable prejudice unless: (1) 

there is a substantial likelihood that it affected the jury's verdict, and (2) a 

properly timed curative instruction could not have prevented the potential 

prejudice. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136,175-76,892 P.2d 29 (1995), 

cert. denied, 516 U.S. 1121 (1996). Defense counsel's decision not to 

object or move for mistrial is strong evidence that the prosecutor's 

argument was not critically prejudicial to the appellant. State v. Swan, 

114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1046 

(1991). 

Prosecutor's have wide latitude in closing to argue the evidence 

and arguing inferences from the record. State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 

841, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). Moreover, a prosecutor's comments in 

closing must be viewed in context of the entire closing argument, the 

issues in the case, the evidence presented and the jury instructions given. 

State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85-86. While a prosecutor may not 

personally vouch for a witness, it is not misconduct for a prosecutor to 

comment on a witness's credibility ifit is based on the evidence and is not 
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a personal opinion. State v. Fiallo-Lopez, 78 Wn. App. 717, 730-31, 899 

P.2d 1294 (1995). 

First, Calvin argues the prosecutor, during rebuttal argument 

impermissibly disparaged opposing counsel by "belittling his argument 

and accusing defense counsel of calling Ranger Moularas a liar." Br. of 

App. at 44. The record reveals that Calvin's attorney did question 

Moularas' credibility and the reliability of his statements and version of 

events during his closing argument. Calvin's defense counsel argued there 

were two versions of the facts, Calvin's and Ranger Moularas, and that to 

find Calvin guilty, the jury would "have to find Park Ranger Moularas 

version was the correct one." RP 153. Calvin's attorney then went on to 

argue that Calvin's version was corroborated by Deputy Osborn's initial 

statement on probable cause. RP 155. He then pointedly questioned why 

Osborn subsequently changed his statement. Calvin's attorney argued 

there was no explanation given for Deputy Osborn amending his statement 

to delete two sections from initial statement on probable cause statement 

except that it "enhances and makes considerably stronger the State's case 

here and avoids the debacle of having a police officer impeached." RP 

156. 

In direct response the prosecutor argued on rebuttal that Calvin had 

quite a story. "I think the defense counsel here is talking to you and he is 
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telling you that Ranger Moularas is a fine person yet is calling him a liar. 

That's what he is doing. This is just outrageous; he's calling him a liar." 

RP 162. Calvin objected and Calvin's objection was sustained. Thereafter, 

the prosecutor rephrased, paraphrasing Calvin's argument by stating 

Calvin was in fact questioning the credibility of Ranger Moularas version 

of events. Id. The prosecutor's statement accurately summarized Calvin's 

argument and the prosecutor was permitted to respond. Calvin placed the 

veracity of the various versions of the facts presented squarely before the 

jury. Therefore the credibility of the two versions of fact before the jury 

was fair game for argument and the prosecutor should be given great 

latitude to argue the evidence. 

To the extent the prosecutor initially used inflammatory language, 

contending Calvin was calling Moularas a liar, Calvin objected and the 

trial court cured any potential prejudice by cautioning the prosecutor to 

alter his language. Such alleged misconduct did not otherwise undermine 

the fairness of Calvin's trial or otherwise warrant reversal. 

Next, Calvin argues the prosecutor committed error by later 

arguing during rebuttal in response to Calvin's argument that the jury 

should "consider whether or not to trust" defense counsel. Br. of App. at 

45, RP 164. It is improper for a prosecutor to disparagingly comment on 

defense counsel's role or to impugn a defense attorney's integrity. State v. 
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Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438,258 P.3d 43 (2011). Calvin did object 

however, the trial court sustained the objection and the prosecutor went on 

to clarify "you can consider his argument and decide if it's trustworthy." 

RP 164. While the prosecutor's initial statement during argument was 

improper, the record reflects prejudice if any was minimal, potential 

prejudice was cured by the prosecutor rephrasing his argument to explain 

that the jury needed to focus on the evidence and decide whether the state 

proved his case beyond a reasonable doubt. RP 167. Calvin cannot show 

how this isolated statement during rebuttal could have affected the jury 

verdict. If the argument, even after corrected was still worrisome, Calvin 

would have asked for a curative instruction or a mistrial. This Court can 

infer Calvin didn't request either because the concern for prejudice based 

on the entirely of closing arguments was minimal. State v. Swan, 114 

Wn.2d 613,661,790 P.2d 610 (1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1046 (1991). 

Calvin also argues the prosecutor improperly argued Calvin was 

blaming the victim during argument and that this was an impermissible 

comment on Calvin's right to cross-examine the state's witnesses, to 

testify on his own behalf and to be represented by counsel. Br. of App. at 

46. The prosecutor's argument, taken in context to the evidence and 

arguments made, was appropriate. Calvin fails to meet his burden and 

articulate from the record how the prosecutor's rebuttal argument 
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infringed on Calvin's right to testify, his right to counselor right to cross 

examine witnesses. Calvin's argument should be rejected. 

Finally, Calvin asserts the prosecutor committed misconduct by 

commenting on Calvin's credibility during closing arguments by asserting 

Calvin's testimony was not credible or consistent with the evidence and 

that Calvin was "just trying to pull the wool over your eyes." Br. of App. 

at 46, RP 140. Calvin argues the prosecutor improperly expressed his 

personal opinion that Calvin was lying. 

It is misconduct for a prosecutor to give his personal opinion as to 

the credibility of a witness. State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 30, 195 P .3d 

940 (2008). Prejudicial error will not be found, however, unless it is "clear 

and unmistakable" that counsel is expressing a personal opinion, and not 

arguing an inference from the evidence. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 

175, 892 P.2d 29 (1995), quoting State v. Sargent, 40 Wn.App. 340, 698 

P.2d 598 (1995). 

The prosecutor's arguments, taken in context, demonstrate the 

prosecutor was permissibly arguing Calvin's version of events and 

explanation for his behavior was not credible. Moreover, at no time did the 

prosecutor express his personal opinion regarding Calvin's credibility. 

Calvin's argument should be rejected. 
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6. Calvin waived his right to object to the 
imposition of legal ("mancial obligations by 
failing to object to their imposition below. 

Calvin alleges that the trial court erred by finding that he has the 

ability either in the present or future to pay legal financial obligations, 

premised largely upon the court's alleged failure to consider his ability to 

pay at the time of sentencing. Calvin bears the burden of demonstrating 

he can raise this issue for the first time on appeal by showing that the 

sentencing court exceeded its statutory authority in assessing the amounts 

or demonstrate that the error he alleges is a manifest one of constitutional 

magnitude. 

In order to assert a constitutional claim for the first time on appeal, 

an appellant must demonstrate that the alleged error is a manifest error of 

constitutional magnitude. RAP 2.5(a). "Manifest" means that a showing 

of actual prejudice is made. State v. Walsh, 143 Wn.2d 1, 8, 17 P.3d 591 

(2001); see also, State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. App. 339, 345, 835 P.2d 251 

(1992) (error is manifest if it had "practical and identifiable consequences" 

in the case). If the error was manifest, the court must also determine if the 

error was harmless. 1Ym!, 67 Wn. App. at 345. The burden is on the 

defendant to identify the constitutional error and how it actually 

prejudiced his defense. State v. McDonald, 138 Wn.2d 680,691,981 P.2d 

443 (1999). 
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The imposition of legal financial obligations standing alone, 

however, is not enough to raise constitutional concerns. See, State v . 

.Qm:y, 118 Wn.2d 911, 915 n.3, 829 P.2d 166 (1992). There is no 

constitutional requirement that a court make a specific finding regarding a 

defendant's ability to pay. See, State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d at 916 (under 

the constitution court need not make any specific finding but need only 

consider defendant's ability to pay as long as there is a mechanism for a 

defendant who ultimately is unable to pay to have the judgment modified). 

Calvin cannot demonstrate this is an issue of constitutional magnitude that 

warrants review for the first time on appeal. 

Similarly, Calvin cannot show there is any statutory basis to assert 

for the first time on appeal there is insufficient evidence in the record to 

show the court considered Calvin's ability to pay LFO's by failing to raise 

it at sentencing. A standard range sentence cannot be appealed. RCW 

9.94A.585; State v. Osman, 157 Wn.2d 474, 481, 139 P.3d 334 (2006).

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